

Contents

- 3 Chapter 1: A hidden crisis made visible
- 5 Showing that mental health matters
- 7 Chapter 2: Building a positive mental health culture
- 7 Taking a systematic approach
- 8 "To put people first, listen first"
- 9 Investing in well-being
- **10** Tackling inequality
- **10** Leading by example
- 12 Conclusion: workplaces are crucial for supporting mental health
- 13 Appendix: Case study gallery
- **15** References

Chapter 1: A hidden crisis made visible

Before the pandemic, mental health was often treated as an afterthought to physical health in the support offered by employers. A steady rise in 'workforce wellness' programs has clearly been underway in the US, driven by factors including the need to contain healthcare costs and attract and retain talent. Additionally, more progressive companies have recognised the close links between engaged employees and better business outcomes.¹

While most employers see employee mental health as a priority—with 96% of CEOs believing they are doing enough, according to one study²—the increasing demand for behavioural health services presents challenges. For example, the average annual spending per employee experiencing mental health issues is US\$15,000, with these employees costing US\$3,000 more in healthcare services annually compared to their peers.³ Despite the reported return of US\$4 for every dollar invested in mental health treatment,³ organisations have tended not to develop mental health-specific strategies.



The reported return for every \$1 invested in mental health treatment is \$4.3

Such statistics inspired the Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act, passed in 2008, which stated that mental health benefits in health plans should be comparable to physical health benefits, yet this mandate has not been fulfilled.⁴

This failure is surprising given the prevalence of mental health issues in the US population, where one in five adults has experienced mental illness in some form.⁵ Very few get the help they need. One study of over 36,000 people found that 62% of those with mood disorders, 76% with anxiety disorders and 81% with substance use disorders had not received treatment.⁶ Reasons include inadequate service provision, with more than 112 million Americans living in areas where mental health providers are scarce;7 lack of awareness and support systems; and mental healthrelated stigma. In fact, the American Psychiatric Association suggests that more than 50% of those with mental illness do not get help mainly because of stigma, prejudice and discrimination against those with mental illnesses.8 "For decades there have been medically assisted treatment programs for mental health and substance abuse which have been underutilised," says Chester Spell, professor of management at Rutgers University.

Yet economic constraints are also especially salient. In a 2018 survey by the National Council for Behavioral Health, 42% of respondents cited

cost and poor insurance coverage as key barriers to accessing mental healthcare. One in four respondents had been forced to choose between obtaining mental health treatment and paying for daily necessities. Piling on top of this existing crisis came the pandemic, through which the impact on mental health has been catastrophic. According to the World Health Organization, global demand for mental health services has risen rapidly since the pandemic began, for reasons including bereavement, isolation, loss of income and fear, just as critical services were halted in 93% of countries. Description of the countries.

"The US has seen tremendous progress in legitimising and acknowledging that mental health is a serious issue... but there is much room for improvement."

Kate Bezrukova, associate professor of organisation and human resources, University at Buffalo

The US has been especially hard hit. Gallup reported that almost half of US workers were concerned about one or more of four possible job setbacks—reduced hours, reduced benefits, layoffs, or wage cuts. 11 In 2020, more than 35% of the workforce reported experiencing symptoms of depression due to the pandemic, while 70% reported the workplace itself to be a source of stress. "The US has seen tremendous progress in legitimising and acknowledging that mental health is a serious issue," says Kate Bezrukova, associate professor of organisation and human resources at the University at Buffalo. "We are doing pretty well compared to a lot of countries, but there is much room for improvement."

Karen Moseley, president of the Health Enhancement Research Organization (HERO), worries that well-being programs are a low-hanging fruit for companies to cut from their budget in economically challenging times, "which we're still living through. Conveying the value proposition—that it is something to sustain or even increase in the future—is imperative."

The impact of the pandemic on mental health is long term. First, it has led many people to re-evaluate their lives and the ways they had been struggling in silence prior to covid-19. "The pandemic has made people realise just how stressful work is—just getting to and from work in big cities. It removed the veil, and people have realised things they did not think about before," says Spell.

Working from home, home-schooling children, reducing social interactions and working more hours under stressful circumstances has had negative consequences on physical and mental health for some, with effects related to individual workers' demographic characteristics, individual capabilities and occupations. Caregiving and conflicts between work and family have been integral to the pandemic's mental health toll, but managing the interface between family and work are long-standing problems facing the workforce, argues Bezrukova.

The pandemic will also cast a long shadow in terms of the knock-on mental health effects of lockdowns. Mental illnesses increase the risk of physical health problems such as obesity and cardiovascular disease, and vice versa: poor physical health may increase the risk of mental health problems. ¹² As a result, the poor lifestyle habits that some have adopted, including poor diet, sleep and lack of physical activity, may over time create the perfect storm of physical and mental comorbidities.

The pandemic has changed work itself in permanent ways. The shift to hybrid or remote work is the most obvious and arguably the biggest change. Before 2020, only 17% of US employees worked from home for five or more days per week, increasing to 44% during the pandemic.¹³ Employers and employees adapted with admirable speed thanks to video-conferencing platforms and new ways of working in digital formats, but this change has had varied mental health implications.

"The pandemic has made people realise just how stressful work is—just getting to and from work in big cities. It removed the veil, and people have realised things they did not think about before."

Chester Spell, professor of management, Rutgers University

Some employees have welcomed working from home and appreciated reduced commuting time, the lack of distractions of open-plan offices, and the chance it has offered to move to more affordable locations. Survey data indicate that employees from ethnic or racial minority backgrounds were more favourably inclined to remote work for additional reasons, including sparing themselves from 'microaggressions' in the workplace and 'codeswitching' (changing how they talk, dress or behave to fit into majority-white workplaces).¹⁴

But there is plenty of evidence that some groups are disadvantaged by home working, including those who live alone, those in confined living spaces, those with more extroverted personalities and those with disabilities who may have required

employer assistance in ergonomic tools and supports.¹⁵ Working from home has also led to a generalised increase in working hours and a diminished ability to separate home from work.^{16,17}

Showing that mental health matters

The mental health crisis accentuated by the pandemic presents an opportunity for companies to think and act more strategically in regards to their staff's mental health and psychological well-being—and there is a long list of reasons to do so. Poor mental health related to work is correlated with a range of chronic diseases which are huge financial burdens for companies in the US, where there is limited state-provisioned public health. Stress and anxiety are linked to physical health conditions including obesity, diabetes, heart disease, and cancer.¹⁸ The cost of mental health conditions is projected to reach US\$6 trillion globally by 2030, up from US\$2.5 trillion in 2010, more than cancer, diabetes, and respiratory ailments combined.¹⁹ Of these costs, about a third relate to direct costs of diagnosis, treatment and care, with the remainder attributable to indirect costs such as lost productivity and income due to disability and death.

Work itself can be a cause of ill mental health through stress, interpersonal tension or anxiety. The field of 'positive psychology' frames mental health as a positive, active state achievable through states of 'flow,' focused engagement and psychological satisfaction earned by developing skills and mastery.²⁰ That is to say, mental health is not merely the absence of disease but the presence of positive psychological states. The workplace can contribute by creating an environment that nurtures engagement, flow, mastery and autonomy, which are key positive psychological states.²¹ The social networks that form around work are also valuable in sustaining mental well-being, as became evident during lockdowns. Work, at its best, can be integral to personal fulfillment.

There are competitive reasons to pay more attention to employees' mental health. We are, headlines suggest, amidst a 'Great Resignation,' with record numbers of US employees quitting their jobs over the last year.²² This trend is complex, with many cases resulting from extreme burnout. Now classed as a syndrome in the WHO's 11th revision of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11), burnout is specifically applied in an occupational context, with poorly managed, chronic workplace stress as the cause rather than a symptom.²³

Turning away from draining and unsatisfying work and instead seeking a better future may represent an American labour force re-examining its values. A recent US survey found that confidence among consumers about labour market prospects was at a two-decade high.²⁴ The trend will accelerate as a result of demographic transition, with younger people more likely to expect mental well-being to be part of the conversation about their employment—and more likely to be open about discussing it in professional contexts.²⁵

Young people are speaking openly about their mental health issues in ways not common in previous periods. A 2020 Deloitte global survey found that around a third of millennial workers said they have taken time off work due to stress and anxiety since the start of the pandemic. Young people are now also more likely to leave their job voluntarily to preserve their mental health. A 2021 survey showed 81% of Gen Z's and 68% of millennial workers have done so, an increase from 75% and 50% respectively in 2019.

Chapter 2 explores the best practices and strategies US organisations can look to as they nurture their staff's mental health and well-being as they try to scale these difficulties on their journey towards creating a positive mental health culture.

Chapter 2: Building a positive mental health culture

The pandemic has prompted employers to ramp up their support for mental health and well-being. The National Alliance of Healthcare Purchaser Coalitions, for instance, surveyed over 256 employers and found that more than half were providing emotional and mental health programs for their workforce during covid-19.28 Another survey of 1200 businesses found that nearly half of employers had trained their managers to recognise the signs of depression, anxiety and other disorders in 2020, with a further 18% planning to do so.^{29,30} This contrasts with pre-pandemic support. Consider, for example: one report suggested that only 25% of managers had received training to support their employees.31 "Management has been aware of these issues for a long time but have not known how to address them adequately. I think the shift now is they are more proactively thinking about it and coming up with programs to help their workforce," says Susan Gurley, executive director of the Anxiety and Depression Association of America (ADAA).

"Mental health is not one thing, or just a box to tick. You need a systemic view, a series of interventions that complement each other."

Kate Bezrukova, associate professor of organisation and human resources, University at Buffalo

Even companies that have taken steps to improve mental health have run into obstacles—among them, lack of expertise and tools. Recent research by Economist Impact showed that while organisations recognise the importance of workforce well-being (90% agreed that employee well-being is fundamental to productivity, business success and economic recovery), most needed more effective approaches to measure and prioritise it. 1 Key problems include a mismatch between program design and staff needs; stigmatisation of mental health and fear among some staff that seeking support will impact career progression; uneven participation in available programs, often reflecting broader socio-economic inequalities; and a tendency to separate mental health initiatives from harder questions about how work itself impacts mental health. That, in turn, could require companies to rethink fundamentals like workflows, working hours, hierarchy and decision-making.

Taking a systematic approach

Employers can deploy a range of individual interventions to support staff well-being, but they should also avoid seeing any individual solution as sufficient on its own. Everyone in the workforce is different and has different needs. "Mental health is not one thing, or just a box to tick," says Bezrukova. "You need a systemic view, a series of interventions

that complement each other." Bezrukova draws parallels with Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DE&I) training, which "cannot be a half-hour session and considered 'done," but is a deep and ongoing process.

Action steps employers can take:32

- Make mental health self-assessment tools available to all employees.
- Offer free or subsidised clinical screenings for depression from a qualified mental health professional, followed by directed feedback and clinical referral when appropriate.
- Offer health insurance with no or low out-of-pocket costs for depression medications and mental health counselling.
- Provide free or subsidised lifestyle coaching, counselling or self-management programs.
- Distribute materials such as brochures, fliers and videos to all employees about the signs and symptoms of poor mental health and opportunities for treatment.
- Host seminars or workshops that address depression and stress management techniques like mindfulness, breathing exercises and meditation to help employees reduce anxiety and stress and improve focus and motivation.
- Create and maintain dedicated, quiet spaces for relaxation activities.
- Provide managers with training to help them recognise the signs and symptoms of stress and depression in team members and encourage them to seek help from qualified mental health professionals.
- Give employees opportunities to participate in decisions about issues that affect job stress.

Systematic thinking behooves companies to examine how work itself is a driver of mental health problems. For instance, there is evidence that stress and anxiety at work are caused not so much by the quantity of work but the intersection of high demand and low control.³³ There is, says Bezrukova, "enormous variability in the culture of companies and the attitudes of leaders about how much control they want to release to their employees."

In some sectors—especially software and technology—there has been a shift over the last decade towards 'agile work', which pushes decision-making power down through the organisation and moves away from command-and-control structures. This is based on a belief that staff will be more productive and engaged, and companies will be more efficient and creative, through flatter structures. This model is not without challenges. 'Holacracy', or self-management, can lead to conflict, confusion and lack of coordination.³⁴ But it does speak to the need for companies to at least review the balance between demand and control and find the sweet spot that gives staff the autonomy they need to complete their work.

"To put people first, listen first"

Experts argue that leaders need to move into 'listening' mode if they are to truly support mental health at work. In our previous Economist Impact research, we explained how one company designed a physical exercise intervention for staff, without appreciating that some parts of the workforce had physically laborious jobs, unlike management-level teams. This indicated how well-intentioned interventions could misfire if not based on listening to staff needs.¹

Employers can listen more effectively through polls and surveys (including anonymised approaches that encourage frank feedback) and via proactive outreach to understand how individuals are faring and what would most support them. Companies can take the temperature of their workforce's mental health through evidence-based mental well-being assessment scales as well,³⁵ and a process of monitoring can be instituted through regular reviews, argues Gurley, executive director and ex officio board member of ADAA.

Listening to what people want, rather than having leaders make assumptions, can produce surprising results. "One of the most overlooked health measures is actually a good ventilation system," says Spell. "This doesn't seem very sexy, but you have to remember, we are in poorly ventilated offices breathing each other's air. Just having a clean building and clean air could have one of the biggest benefits in overall health." He says that "more thought, concern and effort are needed from employers to find out what employees need and what they want. I don't think that's being done in every organisation."

When leaders are approached by a staff member experiencing a mental health problem, they should be careful in how they respond. Such moments are a valuable opportunity to normalise conversations about mental health and take steps to support a staff member—but without the right handling, it can lead to worse outcomes. Gurley cites a case of employees raising complaints that led to a defensive response from management, in which a manager felt criticised and the staff member felt "shut down.... If you want to destigmatise these issues, you must be open to suggestions or ideas without taking it as a criticism. The worst thing is for managers to bring it up and then not know how to respond. A lot of us are not trained in how to do that." Moseley echoes this argument, emphasising that "mid-level managers are critical in [creating] a culture of support as those are direct reports to line employees." One report outlines a series of behaviours that managers should adopt when an employee approaches them with a mental health problem.

What to do when an employee approaches with a mental health problem:³⁶

- · Consider what changes you can make
- · Maintain confidentiality
- Don't make it about you
- Listen
- Offer support, but don't overpromise
- · Thank them for telling you
- Ask for help from others
- Make yourself 'tell-able'

Investing in well-being

Mental health and well-being require rigorous, evidence-based approaches and practices, which requires leaders with social skills, emotional intelligence and humility to know where and when they need help. "Most [business] leaders are not mental health professionals," says Gurley. "They have to invest in a consultant or expert. It's all very well having World Mental Health Day, but this has to be infused in the day-to-day job. Just like companies have hired DE&I specialists, I think we have to hire mental health experts to navigate these issues."

Leaders should invest material resources to promote mental health, whether that be adding 'mental health' well-being days to conventional time-off allowances, creating dedicated physical spaces in their offices for relaxation or providing access to technologies and tools. Ensuring the organisation is adequately staffed also makes a difference, helping to reduce high work demands on existing staff by staffing up and spreading the load.³⁶ Mental health first aid and access to counselling are also essential for more serious and challenging cases.^{37,38}

The need for material support is one reason a company's size and commercial heft are such a significant factor in determining whether it has mental health programs and strategies in place. "The biggest barrier to adoption [of mental health interventions] is the fact that over 99% of employees work for an employer with fewer than 1000 employees, so the majority of the US workforce is in small- to mid-size organisations who are just trying to get payroll done," says Moseley. "They may not have a more comprehensive strategy for health and well-being." The flipside, she notes, is that management and leadership in smaller businesses are naturally closer to their staff, so "leadership and a philosophy and culture are easier to convey."

Tackling inequality

Evidence shows that participation in workforce wellness programs tends to be unequal, with the very employees most likely to benefit also

"Employers are taking a stronger look at how their workplace practices, especially mental health, can be more equitable across their employee populations, whether it's headquarters or the front line."

Karen Moseley, president of the Health Enhancement Research Organization (HERO)

least likely to participate.1 Focus group research conducted by Economist Impact identified a range of explanations, including the fact that more health-conscious employees, often of a higher socio-economic status, are more likely to take part in workplace programs. Another challenge is a fear among some staff that participating in any mental health program or support system could reflect badly on their professional competence and lead, for instance, to being passed over for promotions.1 Such worries are likely greater in employees occupying lower rungs of the organisational ladder. Thankfully, there is some evidence that this is starting to change. "Employers are taking a stronger look at how their workplace practices, especially mental health, can be more equitable across their employee populations, whether it's headquarters or the front line," says Moseley.

One strategy for ensuring more balanced participation and engagement is to revitalise or revamp employee resource groups. These are organisational units representing specific groups of employees who share a common identity, which could be gender, ethnicity or race, to name a few.

Companies including Verizon Media, Johnson & Johnson, and RetailMeNot are implementing employee resource groups as a part of their DE&I strategies, and these could also be appropriate venues for raising mental health awareness in disadvantaged groups. Moseley argues that inequality could also be addressed through greater diversity among the relevant service providers—that they, in short, "resemble the population they are working with," something that remains "a challenge."

Leading by example

Organisational cultures flow from leaders—and from their behaviours more than their formal pronouncements. Any company that wants to

create a pro-mental-health culture must ensure its CEO and all levels of management embody the norms and values the firm wishes to see embedded across the organisation.

One way leaders can establish these norms and values is by speaking up about their own personal challenges and struggles. A second is modelling positive behaviours like keeping boundaries around 'office hours' and not sending or responding to emails outside of those periods. Leaders cannot encourage employees to take time off from work out of business hours and then "send 20 emails over the weekend. If you really want [staff to achieve] work-life balance, then unless the house is burning down, don't email employees on the weekend," says Gurley.

CEOs play a significant role in normalising mental health and well-being as a legitimate issue for the organisation to engage. They should be conscious of their influence in setting the tone and direction, rather than assuming this should come from

the human resources department or its C-suite appointee. ²⁵ More and more companies are also appointing 'chief well-being/wellness' officers to advocate for the issue in the boardroom, inform the design of customised strategies and build an organisational culture that supports well-being and integrates it with corporate performance. ³⁹

The C-suite is not the end of the line, say experts. Boards are an underappreciated actor in pushing for change. "I think boards are the final frontier in mental health," says Gurley, but she adds that many of today's board members are from an older generation in which "people did not talk about mental health issues as freely." This difference must be tackled. "If boards themselves don't view this as important, they are not going to value what the CEO does on this issue, they're not going to value that the CEO may want to allocate money for it."

Conclusion



Workplaces are crucial for supporting mental health

As companies in the US hope for a postpandemic future, there have been many calls to 'build back better' on everything from environment and sustainability to remote work. Few desire a return to prepandemic norms. Mental health has been one of the most neglected societal issues in terms of government and private sector support, with only a handful of companies taking it seriously as an issue in its own right.

The evidence is now strong that mental health is associated with better physical health outcomes, more engaged employees and lower attrition. In a tightening labour market, and with younger workers placing more emphasis on mental health, companies cannot afford to ignore this dimension of well-being. But there are many obstacles that require a careful strategy based on rigorous evidence and designed to be holistic, inclusive and proactive.

Appendix: Case study gallery

Square, who have now announced a permanent move to working from home, partnered with employee resource groups and distributed documents to help with the adjustment to working from home. These documents included tips on home-schooling and mental health resources for those who were socially isolated. They also host virtual events, virtual water coolers on Google Hangouts and photo contests as some of the ways to keep employees connected.⁴⁰

One method trialled during May and June 2020 in Midwestern USA was an online ambulatory intervention consisting of a daily dose of expressive writing, an adaptive emotion regulation activity and one or two (depending on whether low- or high-dose) positive emotion–generating activities, lasting for 3-6 minutes. ⁴¹ Their results showed that the method boosted positive—while reducing negative—emotions, with a clear advantage noted when a high-dose intervention was followed.

University of Missouri Health Care turned to their existing peer support initiative, the for YOU Team, to help support their approximately 1200-strong clinician workforce during the pandemic. Partnering with leadership, they formalised a plan of action and established a well-being task force to attend to the basic care needs and safety of staff, facilitate connection with appropriate resources, create strategies for addressing well-being at all levels and enhance communication to correct misinformation and improve morale.

Restauri and Sheridan have tried to address burnout, acute stress disorder and posttraumatic stress disorders, specifically among radiologists.⁴² They believe that a critical step toward establishing policies and practices is to create an environment and culture in which mental health and illness are not stigmatised. They suggest that reflective writing exercises provide a structured way to access emotions and process experiences, and the channels of communication need to be increased between the physicians and their managers.

We extend our sincere appreciation to the following for their time and contributions to this work:

- Chester Spell, Associate Professor, Rutgers University
- Katerina Bezrukova, Associate Professor, University at Buffalo
- Karen Moseley, President, Health Enhancement Research Organization (HERO)
- Susan Gurley, Executive Director, Anxiety & Depression Association of America

Acknowledgements

In addition, various stakeholders who are not listed here are thanked for their contributions, referrals to experts and other resources in the space. This work was sponsored by Lyra Health and conducted by Economist Impact. The research was led by Bettina Redway, Taylor Puhl and Amanda Stucke. The report was written by Adam Green, and edited by Melissa Lux.

While every effort has been taken to verify the accuracy of this information, Economist Impact cannot accept any responsibility or liability for reliance by any person on this report or any of the information, opinions or conclusions set out in this report. The findings and views expressed in the report do not necessarily reflect the views of the sponsor.

References

- 1. The Economist Group. The employer imperative: Driving US economic vitality through a healthy, productive workforce. The Economist Group, 2021. Available from: https://healthyworkforce.economist.com/.
- 2. Brodey D. Why Is It So Difficult To Invest In Employees' Mental Health?: Forbes. Available from: https://www.forbes.com/sites/denisebrodey/2021/05/04/why-is-it-so-difficult-to-invest-in-employees-mental-health/?sh=40e86b588397.
- 3. NSC. New Mental Health Cost Calculator Shows Why Investing in Mental Health is Good for Business. NSC. Available from: https://www.nsc.org/newsroom/new-mental-health-cost-calculator-demonstrates-why.
- 4. McKinsey & Company. Mental health in the workplace: The coming revolution. McKinsey & Company, 2020. Available from: https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/healthcare-systems-and-services/our-insights/mental-health-in-the-workplace-the-coming-revolution.
- 5 NAMI. You are Not Alone. National Alliance on Mental Illness. Available from: https://www.nami.org/NAMI/media/NAMI-Media/Infographics/NAMI_YouAreNotAlone_2020_FINAL.pdf.
- 6. Olfson M. Many people with mental health disorders do not receive treatment. Healio. Available from: https://www.healio.com/news/psychiatry/20190614/many-people-with-mental-health-disorders-do-not-receive-treatment.
- 7. Leonhardt M. What you need to know about the cost and accessibility of mental health care in America. CNBC. Available from: https://www.cnbc.com/2021/05/10/cost-and-accessibility-of-mental-health-care-in-america.html.
- 8. American Psychiatric Association. Stigma, Prejudice and Discrimination Against People with Mental Illness. American Psychiatric Association. Available from: https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/stigma-and-discrimination.
- 9. National Council for Mental Wellbeing. New Study Reveals Lack of Access as Root Cause for Mental Health Crisis in America. National Council for Mental Wellbeing. Available from: https://www.thenationalcouncil.org/press-releases/new-study-reveals-lack-of-access-as-root-cause-for-mental-health-crisis-in-america/.
- 10. HO. COVID-19 disrupting mental health services in most countries, WHO survey. World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/news/item/05-10-2020-covid-19-disrupting-mental-health-services-in-most-countries-who-survey.
- 11. Gallup. U.S. Workers' Worries Spike Amid COVID's Economic Impact. Gallup. Available from: https://news.gallup.com/poll/312503/workers-worries-spike-amid-covid-economic-impact.aspx.
- 12. McDaid D, Park AL. Counting All the Costs: The Economic Impact of Comorbidity.
- 13. Statista. Change in remote work trends due to COVID-19 in the United States in 2020. Statista. Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1122987/change-in-remote-work-trends-after-covid-in-usa/.
- 14. Financial Times. Minority staff want to spend more time working from home. Financial Times. Available from: https://www.ft.com/content/0049bea8-2d5a-42f4-9ac6-cc79402a7bb9.
- 15. Adecco. The Inclusion Imperative | White Paper. Adecco. Available from: https://go.adecco.com.au/inclusion-and-diversity?_ga=2.52596075.278976367.1635930692-601432201.1635930692.

- 16. Bloomberg. Three Hours Longer, the Pandemic Workday Has Obliterated Work-Life Balance. Bloomberg. Available from: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-04-23/working-from-home-in-covid-era-means-three-more-hours-on-the-job.
- 17. The Economist. Remote workers work longer, not more efficiently. The Economist. Available from: https://www.economist.com/business/2021/06/10/remote-workers-work-longer-not-more-efficiently.
- 18. Reiche EMV, Nunes SOV, Morimoto HK. Stress, depression, the immune system, and cancer. The Lancet Oncology. 2004;5(10):617-25.
- 19. World Economic Forum. Strategic Intelligence- Mental Health. World Economic Forum. Available from: https://intelligence.weforum.org/topics/a1Gb0000000pTDbEAM?tab=publications.
- 20. Headspace. What is a flow state and what are its benefits? Headspace. Available from: https://www.headspace.com/articles/flow-state.
- 21. Hatfield A. Positive psychology can improve well-being at work. Hemsleyfraser. Available from: https://www.hemsleyfraser. com/insights/positive-psychology-can-improve-well-being-work.
- 22. Thompson D. The Great Resignation Is Accelerating. The Atlantic. Available from: https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2021/10/great-resignation-accelerating/620382/.
- 23. WHO. Burn-out an "occupational phenomenon": International Classification of Diseases. World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/news/item/28-05-2019-burn-out-an-occupational-phenomenon-international-classification-of-diseases.
- 24. Mutikani L. U.S. consumer confidence rebounds; house price growth likely peaked. Reuters. Available from: https://www.reuters.com/business/us-consumer-confidence-unexpectedly-rebounds-october-2021-10-26/.
- 25. Greenwood K, Bapat V, Maughan M. Research: People Want Their Employers to Talk About Mental Health. Harvard Business Review. Available from: https://hbr.org/2019/10/research-people-want-their-employers-to-talk-about-mental-health.
- 26. Deloitte. A Call for Accountability and Action. Deloitte. Available from: https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/global/Documents/2021-deloitte-global-millennial-survey-report.pdf.
- 27. Mind Share Partners. 2021 Mental Health at Wordk Report. Mind Share Partners. Available from: https://www.mindsharepartners.org/mentalhealthatworkreport-2021-dl.
- 28. Mayer K. HRE's number of the day: mental health programs. Human Resource Executive. Available from: https://hrexecutive.com/hres-number-of-the-day-mental-health-programs/.
- 29. Huff C. Employers are increasing support for mental health: Large employers are boosting mental health resources as they recognize the strain the pandemic is putting on their employees. American Psychological Association. Available from: https://www.apa.org/monitor/2021/01/trends-employers-support.
- 30. Business Group on Health. Large U.S. Employers Accelerating Adoption of Virtual Care, Mental Health Services for 2021, Business Group on Health Survey Finds. Business Group on Health. Available from: https://www.businessgrouphealth.org/en/who-we-are/newsroom/press-releases/large-us-employers-accelerating-adoption-of-virtual-care-mental-health-services-for-2021.
- 31. BusinessWire. Unum report explores mental health challenges in U.S. workplaces. BusinessWire. Available from: https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20190327005079/en/Unum-report-explores-mental-health-challenges-in-U.S.-workplaces.

- 32. CDC. Mental Health in the Workplace: Mental Health Disorders and Stress Affect Working-Age Americans. US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/workplacehealth/promotion/tools-resources/workplacehealth/mental-health/index.html.
- 33. Bhui K, Dinos S, Galant-Miecznikowska M, et al. Perceptions of work stress causes and effective interventions in employees working in public, private and non-governmental organisations: a qualitative study. BJPsych bulletin. 2016;40(6):318-25.
- 34. Bernstein E, Bunch J, Canner N, et al. Beyond the Holacracy Hype: The overwrought claims—and actual promise—of the next generation of self-managed teams. Harvard Business Review. Available from: https://hbr.org/2016/07/beyond-the-holacracy-hype.
- 35. Warwick Medical School. Collect, score, analyse and interpret WEMWBS. Warwick Medical School. Available from: https://warwick.ac.uk/fac/sci/med/research/platform/wemwbs/using/howto/.
- 36. Gallo A. When Your Employee Discloses a Mental Health Condition. Harvard Business Review. Available from: https://hbr.org/2021/02/when-your-employee-discloses-a-mental-health-condition.
- 37. REBA. How to build a positive workplace culture that supports and reinforces good mental wellbeing. Reward & Employee Benefits Association Available from: https://reba.global/content/how-to-build-a-positive-workplace-culture-that-supports-and-reinforces-good-mental-wellbeing.
- 38. Simplyhealth. Mental Health First Aid for employers. Simplyhealth. Available from: https://www.simplyhealth.co.uk/businesses/insights/mental-wellbeing/mental-health-first-aid.
- 39. Reilly C. The Rise Of The Chief Wellbeing Officer. Forbes. Available from: https://www.forbes.com/sites/colleenreilly/2020/07/07/the-rise-of-the-chief-wellbeing-officer/?sh=89762fd1fcef.
- 40. SquareUp. ERGs, COVID-19, and Community. SquareUp. Available from: https://squareup.com/us/en/about/diversity/communities.
- 41. Coifman KG, Disabato DD, Seah THS, et al. Boosting positive mood in medical and emergency personnel during the COVID-19 pandemic: preliminary evidence of efficacy, feasibility and acceptability of a novel online ambulatory intervention. Occupational and Environmental Medicine. 2021;78(8):555.
- 42. Restauri N, Sheridan AD. Burnout and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pandemic: Intersection, Impact, and Interventions. J Am Coll Radiol. 2020;17(7):921-6.

ECONOMIST IMPACT

LONDON

20 Cabot Square London, E14 4QW United Kingdom Tel: (44.20) 7576 8000 Fax: (44.20) 7576 8500 Email: london@eiu.com

NEW YORK

750 Third Avenue 5th Floor New York, NY 10017 United States Tel: (1.212) 554 0600 Fax: (1.212) 586 1181/2 Email: americas@eiu.com

HONG KONG

1301 12 Taikoo Wan Road Taikoo Shing Hong Kong Tel: (852) 2585 3888 Fax: (852) 2802 7638 Email: asia@eiu.com

GENEVA

Rue de l'Athénée 32 1206 Geneva Switzerland Tel: (41) 22 566 2470 Fax: (41) 22 346 93 47 Email: geneva@eiu.com

DUBAI

Office 1301a Aurora Tower Dubai Media City Dubai Tel: (971) 4 433 4202 Fax: (971) 4 438 0224 Email: dubai@eiu.com

SINGAPORE

8 Cross Street #23-01 Manulife Tower Singapore 048424 Tel: (65) 6534 5177 Fax: (65) 6534 5077 Email: asia@eiu.com